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PACIFIC TRIAL ATTORNEYS
A Professional Corporation
Scott J Ferrell, Bar No 202091
sferren@pacifictnaIattomeys.com
VictonaC Knowles, Bar No 277231
vknowles@pacifictnalattomeys com
4100 Newport Place Dnve,Ste 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Tel (949) 706-6464
Fax (949) 706-6469 ■ , _ ,

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative Class

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California,
County of San Diego

12/11/2025 12 58 02 PM'
i  t

Clerk of the Superior Court
ByM Manneh .Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

JESSICA ARGUETA, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

i  Plaintiff,

V  ! '

LOVELY SKIN, INC , a Nebraska corporation,
d/b/a WWW.LOVELYSKIN COM,

Defendant.

Case No. 25CU066215C

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR: (1)
VIOLATION OF CAL. BUS. & PROF, CODE
§ nsmETSEQ. ; AND (2) CONSUMERS
LEGAL REMEDIES ACT, CAL. CIVIL
CODE § 1750

Action Filed.

Tnal Date. TBA
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1. NATURE OF ACTION

1  Defendant advertises fictitious regular pnces (and corresponding phantom discounts) on

products sold through its website at https //www lovelvskm com/ (the "Website") This practice allows

Defendant to fabricate a fake "reference pnce," and present the actual price as "discounted," when it is

not The result is a sham pnce dispanty that is per se illegal under Califorma law

n. PARTIES

2  Plamtiff IS a citizen of California who purchased a product identified below fi"om

Defendant's Website

3  Defendant is a Nebraska corporation. Plaintiff is mfonned and beheves and thereon

alleges that Defendant's prmcipal place of busmess is in the state of Nebraska based on the Terms of

Service on the Website identifying the Website's mailmg'address as 14651 South 210th Street,

Gretna, NE 68028 Defendant is an onlme retailer that sells skmcare and beauty products nationwide and

m California' Defendant has substantial contacts with and receives substantial benefits and income from

and through the state of California '

m. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4  As a court of general junsdiction, this Court has jurisdiction over all claims presented to

It

5  Defendant is subject to junsdiction under California's "long-arm" statute because the

exercise of junsdiction over Defendant is not "inconsistent with the Constitution of this state or the

United States " Defendant engaged m mtentional acts by operatmg its Website and making it available

to California residents, deceptively advertismg its products via its Website to California residents

including Plaintiff, expressly aimmg its conduct toward California residents by conductmg substantial

business with residents of the State of Califorma via its Website, and causing economic harm to

California residents that Defendant knew would be likely to be suffered m California Plamtiff is

informed and beheves and thereon alleges that Defendant generates a rmmmnm of eight percent of its

revenues from its Website based upon mteractions with Califormans, such that the Website "is the
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eqiuvalerit of a physical store in Cahfomia " Thurstoh v Fairfield Collectibles ofGeorgiOy 53 Cal App

5th 1231,1235 (2020), review demedy No. S264780 (Dec 9, 2020).

6  Venue is proper in this County because Defendant'is not a citizen or resident of

California, meaning that venue is proper m any County that plamtiff selects

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

7  Defendant, through its Website, offers products for sale to California consumers

8  Defend^t advertises fictitious pnces (and corresponding phantom discounts) on such

products This practice allows Defendant to fabncate a fake "reference" pnce, and present the actual

price as "discounted," when it is not

9  On October 10,2025, Plamtiff purchased a product called "DermaNail Nail'Conditioner"

(die "Product") from Defendant's Website for the allegedly discounted pnce of$36.09, which Defendant

compared to a stnke-through reference pnce of $37 99, after visitmg a webpage advertismg the Product

10 Plamtiff read and relied upon the strike-through reference pncmg advertismg the Product
/• I , ,

that she purchased before completmg his online purchase of the Product via the Website

11 Courts have construed stnkethrough pnces as representing former prices despite the lack

of specific words indicating the regular pnce See, e g, Jacobs v La-Z-Boy, Inc , 2024 WL 5194976,

at *5 (C D Cal Nov 14,2024) (Staton, J), Vizcarra v Michaels Stores, Inc, 710 F Supp 3d 718, 725

(ND Cal 2024)y Phillips V Brooklyn Bedding LLCy 2024 WL 2^30663, at *4 (ND Cal 2024) (Lm,

J), Munning v Gap, Inc , 2016 WL 6393550, at *5 (ND Cal Oct 28, 2016), see also Calcagno v

Kipling Apparel Corp , 2024 WL 3261205, at *7 (S D Cal July 1, 2024) (Bashant, J) ("a former pnce
7  ,

need not be identified by the words 'formerly' or 'regularly' to be actionable")

12 , The alleged former pnce or reference pnce descnbed in the preceding paragraph was not
'  < . ' ) < . 1

the "prevailing market pnce" m the three month penod (ie,'July, August, and September 2025)

precedmg the above access date withm the meanmg of section 17501 of the Cahfomia Busmess and

Professions Code Likewise, the advertisement does not "clearly, exactly and conspicuously" state the

date upon which the alleged former pnce or reference pnce was the prevailmg market pnce withm the

meanmg of that same statute

-  - ' - _3. - - -
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13 For example, on September 2, 2025, Defendant offered the exact same product for an

allegedly discounted price of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented

by the "Wayback Machine " ̂

14 Even before such three month penod. Defendant consistently offered the Product at a

pnce below its stnke-through reference pnce of $37,99 For example, on February 9, 2014, Defendant

offered the exact same product for the pnce of $28 50, as documented by the '*Wayback Machme

15 OnMarch25,2014,Defendantofferedtheexactsameproductforthepnceof$28 50,as

documented by the "Wayback Machme

16 On May 25, 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as

documented by the "Wayback Machme

17 On June 22, 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as

documented by the "Wayback Machine

18 On June 25^ 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as
I' ' ' ' ; I

documented by the "Wayback Machme

19 On July 1, 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted

pnce of $22 50 compared to a purported reference pnce of $30 00, as documented by the "Wayback

Machme

' The "Wayback Machme" is a digital archive of the World Wide Web that allows users to view past versions of websites
https //web archive org/ (last visited November 13,2025) It automatically captures snapshots of webpages at vanous pomts
in time, and stores them with timestamps It is used to determine how a website looked m the past, analyze the evolution of
a website, and retrieve information that may no longer be available on die current iteration of a website Information retneved
via the Wayback Machme is generally treated as authontative "In this distnct, the contents of web pages available through
the Wayback machme are generally proper subjects of judicial notice 'as facts that can be accurately and readily determmed
from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned[ ]'" Valenzuela v The Kroger Co , 2024 WL 1336959, at *3
n 7 (C D Cal iMar 28,2024) (Gee,J) (citations omitted)
^ https //web archive org/web/20250902062150/https //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
^ https //web archive org/web/20140209094333/httDS //www Invelvskin cnm/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
^ https //web archive org/web/20140325133359/https //www lovelvskm com/c/dermanail
^ https //web archive org/web/2Q140525045330/httDS Ifwvrw Invelvskin cnm/o/dermanail
^ https //web archive org/web/20I40622081347/https //www lovelvskm com/o/dermanail-naiUconditioner
^ https //web archive org/web/20140625082123/https //www lovelvskin comyc/dermanail
® https //web archive ore/web/20140701134Q18/http //www lovelvskm com/o/dermanail-naiUnnnditioner
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20 On July 24,2014^ Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted
' ^ f i ' ' f

pnce of $36.09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented by the "Wayback

Machme

21 On September 21, 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of

$30 00, as documented by the *'Wayback Machme

22 OnNovember 15,2014,Defendantofferedtheexactsameproductforthepnceof$30 00,

as documented by the "Wayback Machine ^

23 On November 20, 2014, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

24 On December 24, 2014, Defendant offered the exact" same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

25 On February 11, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce" of $37 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

26 On February 19,2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00,

as docuihented by the "Wayback Machme ^
c

27 On March 15, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for ah allegedly
I  ' '

discounted pnce of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

^ https //web archive org/web/20140724214033/httDS //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail
https //web archive org/web/20140921060432/https //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail
" https //web archive org/web/20141115113157/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner

https //web archive org/web/2014n20133431/https //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail
https //web archive org/web/20141224235920/httDS //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail
https //web archive org/web/2Q 15021118172l/https //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail

https //web archive org/web/2Q 150219060818/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/20150315013425/http //www lovelvskin com/c/dermanail

-5- - -
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28 On March 16, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly
'  I 1 / , j ! ' - ' I

discounted pnce of $24 00 compared to a purported reference pnce of $30 OOj as documented by the
I  ' I ' ' ' " 1 ' ' ' }

"Wayback Machme

29 On Apnl 13,2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted

pnce of $36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99, as documented by the "Wayback
,r ' . \

Machine
t  ' ' > - , n

30 On September 4, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly
I  - ' 'i

discounted pnce of $24 00 compared to a purported reference pnce of $30 00, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

31 On September 8, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $24 00 compared to a purported reference pnce of $30 00, as documented by the
I  I ' ' I I r ' .

"Wayback Machme

32 On October 6, 2015, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00,

as documented by the "Wayback Machme
I  ' I 'i f ' I 'j

33 On March 15, 2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly
>' I' ! l( I , 1 J

discounted pnce of $24 00 compared to a purported reference pnce of $30 00, as documented by the
I  'j '

"Wayback Machme

34 On Apnl 6, 2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as
'  ' i ' ' ' /

documented by the "Wayback Machme

35 On Apnl 13, 2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as
'  1 1 I I t ^ ' ' 1 •

documented by the "Wayback Machme

https//web archive org/web/20150316II0943/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/201504I3Q12825/http //www lovelvskm com/c/dermanail
https //web archive org/web/20150904191619/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner

^ https //web archive org/web/201509Q8101554/httD //www lovelvskm com/o/dermanail-naiUconditioner
https//web archive or^web/20151006160935/httD //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner

^^https//web archive org/web/20160315144016/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/2016Q4Q6134724/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/20160413184629/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner

-6-
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'  36.' On Apnl 17,2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as

documented by the "Wayback Machine

37 On May 13, 2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as

documented by the "Wayback Machme"^®

38 On May 18, 2016, Defendant offered the exact'same product for the pnce of $30 00, as

documented by the "Wayback Machme

"39 On May 20, 2016, Defendant offered the exact same product for the pnce of $30 00, as
^  I < , , , ■ r '

documented by the "Wayback Machme '

40 On May 7, 2017, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted

pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99^ as documented by the "Wayback

Machme
'  I

41 On June 28, 2017, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted
t  I \ i / M '

pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99, as documented by the "Wayback

Machme."30

42 On July 17,2017, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted

pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99, as documented by the "Wayback

Machine

43 On September 24, 2020, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme

https //web archive org/web/2Q 160417093016/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/2016Q5I3122358/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-naii-conditioner

^ https //web archive org/web/2Q16Q518200309/httD //www lovelvslcm Rnm/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
^ https //web archive org/web/20160520005242/http /fwwvf lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner

https //web archive org/web/20170S07062l48/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-na\I-conditioner
httos //web archive ore/web/2017Q628222408/http //wvyw lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/20170717Q73831/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dennanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/2Q2Q0924171246/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
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44 ^ On November 26, 2020, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly
i  I ' ' > i \ I

discounted pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99, as documented by the
il l , / j

"Wayback Machine "33 , ^ ^

45 On March 7,2021, Defendant offered the exact same product for an allegedly discounted

pnce of $31 34 compared to a purported reference pnce of $32 99, as documented by the "Wayback
■  I I I 1 I

Machme

46^^ On Februaiy 13, 2024, Defendant offered the,exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $27 60 compared to a purported reference pnce of $34 50, as documented by the

"^^fayback Machme

I  47 ^ On December 9, 2024, Defradant offered the exact same product for an allegedly

discounted pnce of $35 14 compared to a purported reference pnce of $36 99, as documented by the

"Wayback Machme "36

48 In other words, the product has never been documented for sale at its reference pnce of

$37 99 by the "Wayback Machme "

,  49 As of November 23, 2025, the product is still listed at an allegedly discounted pnce of
"  I' I '

$36 09 compared to a purported reference pnce of $37 99

33 https //web archive org/web/20201126091303/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/2021Q307050642/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/20240213121136/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-nail-conditioner
https //web archive org/web/20241209031250/http //www lovelvskin com/o/dermanail-Dail-conditioner
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LxivdySkin

DcrmaNail Nail Conditioner

DemHNaii
$36.09

• t«<iHOHi ,axnd^ 0*ty OMa 0* Oatf OeertMOm'
SO%0*l 14MI i*rm fMawCKt'

^ COrrtrQts cl«pp««j ana O'*** "(

50. DefendaDi'& unkwitil strike-through reference pricing scheme is not limited to the

Product itselt For example, on July 25, 2015, Defendant sold a product called **LovelySkm LUXE

Ultra-Rich Pq>tide Moisturizer** for an allegedly discounted price of $66.50 compared to a puipoited

reference price of $95.00, as documented by the "Wayback Machine

51. On August 6, 2015. Defendant sold a product called "'LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer^ for a price ofS90.00, as documented by the ̂ ^Wayback Machine.**^

52. On August 12, 2015. Defendant sold a product called **LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Pq^tide MoUtuhzer** for an allegedly discounted price of $66.50 compared to a purported reference price

ofS95.00, as documented by the ''Wayback Machine."^

53. On August 26. 2015, Defendant sold a product c^ed **LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer** for m allegedly discountedprice of $66.50 compared to apurpoited refeicuce price

of$95.00, as documented by the **Wayback Machine.**^

http8:/Awb.afcbive.«'e/web/201 S072S022638/liPp;//www.lnwly<lfin,coin/</li>veiyildD»j'iXg
"  httpfc//w«b.archtv«.oT^wA/201SOSOSOf>0036/hnp6r//wMy^».iQvgtv8kiii.oom/o/k>vatvakMi«1m^ulo»'rich^MpU4e'
mwflwwer
» haps:/Awfe afchiveugyArefa/2Q150812095133/htm://www Iftvelvakm.ftHP/Mtwelvakin.lim
•hopg://wA AfchivexyyAreh/2QlS082606114S/httD://wvi^lftvglvAin

-9-
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54 On September 5, 2015, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer" for an allegedly discounted price of $67 50 compared to a purported reference price

of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machine

55 On September 10,2015, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkm LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer" for a pnce of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machme

56 On October 6, 2015, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkm LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer" for a pnce of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machme

57 On March 15, 2016, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer" for an allegedly discounted pnce of $72 00 compared to a purported reference price

of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machine

58 On Apnl 14, 2016, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkm LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer" for a pnce of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machme

59 On Apnl 17, 2016, Defendant sold a producti called "LovelySkm LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer!' for a pnce of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machme

60 On May 18, 2016, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer^' for a pnce of $90 00, as documented by the "Wayback Machine

61 > On June 30, 2017, Defendant sold a product called "LovelySkin LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moistunzer" for an allegedly discounted pnce of $67 50 compared to a purported reference price

of $90 00, as documented by thei"Wayback Machme

I  I I I * '

https //web archive org/web/2QI509Q52352Q3/https //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskm-hiYfi-ultra-nch-Deptide-
moisturizer

https //web archive Qrg/web/20150910041823/httDS //www lovelvskin com/o/Iovelvskm-Iuxe-ultra-nch-peptide-
moistunzer

https //web archive org/web/20151006160946/https //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskm-luxe-ultra-nch-peptide-
moistunzer

^  https //web archive org/web/2016d315145317/https //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskin-luxe-ultra-rich-peptide-
moistunzer

https //web archive org/web/2016Q414032244/https //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskin-luxe-ultra-nch-peptide-
moistunzer

https //web archive org/web/20160417063157/https //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskm-luxe-ultra-rich-peptide-
moistunzer

https //web archive ore/web/20160518181038/https fiv/vrff lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskin-luxe-ultra-nch-peptide-
moistunzer

https //web archive org/web/2Q17Q630144323/httPS //www lovelvskin com/o/lovelvskm-luxe-ultra-nch-peptide-
moistunzer

- 10-
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62. Od October 21, 2021, Defendazit sold a product called **Love1ySkJO LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer^ for an allegedly discountedprice of S74.00 compaiedto a purported reference price

of$92.50, as documented by the ̂ 'Wayback Machine/*^

63. On Petmiary 4, 2024, Defetkdant sold a product called **LovelySkm LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer^* for an allegedly disctwoted price of $76.00 compared to a purported reference price

of$95.00, as documented by the "Wayback Machine.*"^

64. On January 24, 2025, Defendant sold a product called **LovetySkio LUXE Ultra-Rich

Peptide Moisturizer** for an allegedly discountedprice of $76.00 compared to a purported reference fmce

of$95.00, as documented by the **Wayback Machine.**^'

65. Currently, as of November 22, 2025, the **LovelySkiD LUXE Ultra-Rich PcfMide

Moisturizer**** is being sold for an allegedly discounted price of $66.50 compared to a purported

lefeieuce price of$95.00—a price at which the moisturizer has never been sold for b any scnpa ofthe

''Wayback Machine**:

Llivclvskin^ 4 WyAMMM v
B  '> I* r ... f -ifs leoi

hi iih.iiii.ii.iiii i. .m nil -1.1 11—

Hvm I fWHtAfifMH t ltoiCir« ' VeWr** LUS< y»f* V«» <Tieia iVT #

LovelySkin LUXE Uloa-Rich Peptide
Moisttirizer

'^ 44 W— f.

$66.50
^  swoososoe

hPp$:/At>eb.afchiye.Ofg/web/2021102II74624/hltps://vyww.tevelvslQn.com/o/lovelv8l:in«lu>fe-uhra-ricb-peptide-
nuMMurizy
^ tepg://wgb.flrcluv6.ory/wA/20240204030233/ht!pft.//wwwk»velvAin gotn/c/nK>iwurizers-aly»-bv-^i'oduoutvp<^irt.
£fiS

htq»://web.afchive.ofy/web/202S0124133853/hai«:/Airtw.k)veWgkiD.copv/nyiAvrivg^in.biX6Hiilra-ncbi>epli^
mMsturizer
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66 The foregoing pncmg and advertising practices reflecting high-pressure fake sales are
/  ' 1 ' '

patently deceptive They are intended to mislead customers into believing that they are getting a bargain
,  t > I '

by buymg products from Defendant on sale and at a substantial and deep discount The reference price

IS, therefore, an artificially mflated pnce In turn, the advertised discounts are nothmg more than

phantom markdowns
1  ̂ y ' I

61 "An advertised discount off a seller's regular pnce can be deceptive where (1) the alleged

sale,price does not in fact differ from the regular pnce at which the product is ordmanly sold, or (2) 'the

alleged onginal pnce constituted a false valuation of the product Knapp v Art com, Inc, No 16-cv-

00768-WHO, 2016 WL 3268995, at *3 (ND Cal June 15, 2016) (quoting lA Calmann on Unfair
!  \

Competition, Tr & Mono § 5 59 (4th ed 2015) and citmg Hinojos v Kohl's Corp , 718 F 3d 1098,

1102 (9th Cir 2013) (noting that the plaintiff alleged both (1) "tliat he purchased several items that were
'  1 >

advertised as bemg substantially reduced from their 'ongmal' or 'regular' prices but that were, in reahty,

routinely sold by [the defendant] at the advertised 'sale' pnces," and (2) "that the advertised 'onginal'

or 'regular' pnces did not reflect prevailmg retail market pnces"), 16 C F R § 233 1(a) (an advertised

"reduction from the advertiser's own former pnce for an article" is legitimate where "the former pnce

IS the actual, bona fide pnce at which the article was offered to the public on a regular basis for a

reasonably substantial penod of time") (emphasis added by Knapp))

68 Defendant's perpetual sales ofthe Product (and other products) have caused its purported

sales pnces to be no different from the pnces at which it regularly sells the Product (and other products)

That is. Defendant does not ordmanly sell its Product (or other products) at the advertised regular pnces

m violation of section 17500 of California's Business and Professions Code

69 In addition, Plamtiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the advertised

regular pnces on Defendant's Website are out of step with prevailmg market pnces m violation of

section 17501 ofCalifomia'sBusmess and Professions Code In light of the foregomg mvestigation of

(i) the Product's sales pnce on Defendant's Website conducted by Plamtiff s counsel regardmg the three-

month period before Plaintiffs purchase of the Product referenced m the precedmg paragraphs, (ii) the

time penod before such pertinent three-month penod began, and (iii) the time penod after Plaintiffs

-12-
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piirchase ofthe Product, Plaintiffis informed and believes and thereon alleges that the Product purchased
'  > f

by Plaintiff was not offered for sale on Defendant's Website in the majonty of daily offerings at the

reference pnce dunng the requisite statutory three-month penod, such that the reference pnce was not

the "prevailmg market pnce" for the Product durmg the requisite statiitoiy three-month penod People
I  ■ I '

V Superior Court^'iACdX App 5th376,414(2019)("[T]herequisitemarketpnce is reasonably viewed

as the common or predominant price dunng that [pertment three-month] penod For that reason, in a
,  '

typical case, a retailer may avoid hability under the statute by advertismg a former pnce that obtams on

all or most of the days within the pertment three-month period ") (emphasis added), (recognizing the

"statistical 'mode' pnce of an advertised item - that is, the most commonly occumng pnce - as an
^  f c i , '
objective standard for determimng the prevailing three-month market pnce for that item and explammg

that "the most straightforward apphcation of the concept of the mode to the facts alleged here is to

identify the three-month prevailmg pnce for an item as the price offered in the majority of the 'daily

offerings*for the period, if there is one, and otherwise as the most frequently occurring price in those

offerings*^) (emphasis addeii)
J  " ' I' I ! , , j

70 Defendant knows that the pnces for the Product are fake and artificially inflated and
\  \

mtentionally uses them in its deceptive pncmg scheme on its Website to increase sales and profits by

misleadmg consumers to believe that they are buymg products at a substantial discount Defendant

thereby mduces customers to buy product's they never would have bought—or at the very least, to pay

more for merchandise th^ they otherwise would have if Defendant was simply bemg truthful about its

"sales "

71 Defendant used strike-through pncmg for the Product and other products to mdicate that

such products were on "sale," which provided a false sense of urgency to consumers mcludmg Plamtiff

because, m reality, the sale pnce that was advertised to Plamtiff and other consumers was routmely

offered 16 C F R. § 233 5 ("[Retailers] should not make a 'limited' offer which, m fact, is not

limited") ^ -

72 The effectiveness of Defendant's deceitful pncmg scheme is supported by longstandmg

scholarly research In the seimnal article entitled Comparative Pnce Advertising Informative or
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Deceptive'^ (cited m Hinojos v Kohl's Carp , 718 F 3d 1098, 1106 ,(9th Cir 2013)), Professors Dhruv
A  ,

Grewal and Larry D Compeau wnte that, "[b]y creating an impression of savings, the presence of a

higher reference pnce enhances subjects' perqeived value and willingness to buy the product" Dhruv
'  '' ' I

Grewal & Larry D Compeau, Comparative Price Advertising Informative or Deceptive"^^ 11 J Pub

Pol'y & Mktg 52, 55 (1992) Therefore, "empincal studies indicate that, as discount size increases,

consumers' perceptions of value and theur willmgness to buy the product increase, while their mtention
'  I ' i * » t .'

to search for a lower pnce decreases " Id at 56 For this reason, m Hinojos, the Ninth Circuit held that

a plaintiff making a claim of deceptive pncing (stnkmgly similar to the claim at issue here) had standmg

to pursue his claim against the defendant retailer In doing so, the Court observed that "[mjisinformation

about a product's 'normal' pnce is sigmficant to many consumers in the same way as a false product

label would be " Hinojos, 718 F 3d at 1106
^  1 t

73 Professors Compeau and Grewal reached similar conclusions m a 2002 article "decades
\  1 ! , , ,

of research support the conclusion that advertised reference prices do mdeed enhance consumers'

perceptions of the value of the deal" Dhruv Grewal & Larry D Compeau, Comparative Price

Advertising Believe It or Not, 36 J OF CONSUMER Affairs 287 (2002) The professors also found that

"[cjonsumers are influenced by companson pnces even when Ac stated reference prices are implausibly

high"/£i

74 In another schplarly publication. Professors Joan Lmdsey-Mullikm and Ross D Petty

concluded that "[rjeference pnce ads strongly mfluence consumer perceptions of value Consumers

often make purchases not based on pnce but because a retailer assures them that a deal is a good bargain

This occurs when the retailer highlights the relative, savmgs compared with the pnces of
'  ' i '''

competitors " Joan Lindsey-Mullikm & Ross D Petty, Marketing Tactics Discouraging Pnce Search
>  * i'

Deception and Competition, OF BUS RESEARCH 67 (2011)

75 Similarly, accordmg to Professors Praveen K Kopalle and Joan Lmdsey-Mullikm,

"research has shown that retailer-supplied reference pnces clearly enhance buyers' perceptions of value"

and "have a significant impact on consumer purchasmg decisions " Praveen K Kopalle & Joan Lmdsey-
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Mullikin, The Impact of External Reference Price on Consumer Price Expectations, 79 J OF RETAILING

225(2003)

76 The results of a 1990 study by Professors Jerry B Gotlieb and Cyndy Thomas Fitzgerald,

came to the conclusion that "reference pnces are important cues consumers use when makmg the

decision concemmg how much they are willing to pay for the product" Jeny B Gotlieb & Cyndy

Thomas Fitzgerald, An Investigation into the Effects of Advertised Reference Pnces on the Pnce

Consumers Are Willing to Pay for the Product, 6 J OF APP'D BUS Res 1 (1990) This study also

concluded that "consumers are likely to be misled into a wiUmgness to pay a higher price for a product

simply because the product has a higher reference pnce " Id

77 The unmistakable inference to be drawn from the foregomg research and the Ninth

Circmt's opinion mHinojos is that the deceptive advertismg through the use of false reference pncmg

employed here by Defendant is intended to, and does in fact, influence customer behavior by artificially
I  1 , 1 1 ' 1

mflating customer perceptions of a given item's value and causmg customers to spend money that they

otlierwise would not have, purchase items they otherwise would not have, and/or spend more money for

a product than they otherwise would have absent the deceptive advertising

'78 Defendant had the opportunity to follow decades of significant industry guidance from

the federal Government for its bargain advertising and comparative pnce advertising practices Federal
i  I

law regulates bargam advertismg practices under the general false advertismg statutes, 15USC §§52

and 55^ but the Code ofFederal Regulations set forth guidelines issued by the Federal Trade Commission

("FTC") that provide detailed descnptibns, explianations of what types of advertising may be misleading,

and guidance 16CFR §15 ("Industry guides are administrative interpretations of laws administered

by the [Federal Trade] Commission for the'guidance of the public m conductmg its affairs m conformity

with legal requirements ")

79 For example, the FTC has provided wntten guidance on former pnce compansons in

relevant part, "One of the most commonly used forms of bargain advertising is to offer a reduction from

the advertiser's own former pnce for an article If the former pnce is the actual, bona fide pnce at which

the article was offered to the public on a regular basis for a reasonably substantial period oftime, it
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provides a legitimate basis for the advertismg of a pnce companson Where the former pnce is genuine,
°  I ( I >>

the bargain being advertised is a true one If, on the other hand, the former pnce being advertised is not

bona fide but fictitious—for example, where an artificial, inflatedprice was establishedfor the purpose
' j i ' I

of enabling the subsequent offer ofa large reduction—the "bargain" being advertised is a false one;
'  I ' ' j ' f ' I

the purchaser is not receiving the unusual value he expects. In such a case, the "reduced"price is, in
'  I I I I ' . ' I

reality, probablyjust the seller*s regular price " (16 C F R § 233 1(a) (emphasis added))

80 The FTC has also stated, "A former pnce is not necessanly fictitious merely because no

sales at the advertised pnce were made The advertiser should be espeeially careful, however, in such a

case, that the pnce is one at which the product was openly and actively offered for sdXc^for a reasonably

substantial period of time, in the recent, regular course ofhis business, honestly and m good faith—
1  ' n > >" ' ' '

and, of course, not for the purpose of establishing a fictitious higher price on which a deceptive

comparison might be based " (16 C F R § 233 1(b) (emphasis added))
j  . . I I'll >

81 The FTC has also stated in addressing the topic of retail pnce compansons, "Whenever

an advertiser represents that he is selhng below the pnces being charged m his area for a particular
I  I I I I y f >

article, he should be reasonably certain that the higher pnce he advertises does not appreciably exceed

the pnce at which substantial sales of the article are being made in the area—^that is, a sufficient

number of sales so that a consumer would consider a reduction fi*om the pnce to represent a genume

bargain or saving " (16 C F R § 233 2 (emphasis added))
I  ' I '>

82 Plamtiff seeks damages and, m the alternative, restitution Plamtiff is permitted to seek

equitable remedies in the altemative because Plamtiff has no adequate remedy at law

83 A legal remedy is not adequate if it is not as certain as an equitable remedy The elements
»  - ' if

of Plaintiffs equitable claims are different and do not requue the same showings as Plamtiff s legal

claims For example. Plaintiffs theory of liability under section 17501 (an equitable claim) is predicated
j  '

on a specific stamtory provision, w^ch prohibits advertismg merchandise usmg a former pnce if that

pnce was not the prevailmg market pnce withm the statutory three-month penod (Cal Bus & Prof

Code § 17501 ) Plaintiff may be able to prove these more straightforward factual elements, and thus
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prevail under section 17501, while riot beiriig able to'prove one or riibre^eiements of Plaintiff^s legal
claim under the CI^RA seeking damages ' " ' ' - ' ^ '

84 In addition, to obtain a fiillVefunil as damages, Plaintiff must show that the Product that
Plaintiff bought has essentially no market value^ 'In contrast, Plamtiff can seek restitution without

making this showing' This is because Plaintiff purchased a Product'that Plamtiff would not otherwise

have purchased, but'for Defendant's representations ObWmirig a full refiind at law is less certam than

ob'tammg a refund m eqiuty' ' ' ' ^
I ̂  , I ' I ( I I .

85 Finally, legal damages are madequate to remedy the imminent threat of future harm that

Plamtiff faces Only an injunction can remedy this threat of foture haim Plamtiffwould purchase either
the Product or other products from Defendant agam iri the future if Plaintiff could feel sure that

liefendmt's re^lar pnces accurately reflected Defendant's former pnces and the market value of the
products, and that its discounts were truthful But, without an mjunction, Plamtiff has no realistic way

to know which—if any—of Def^dant's regular pnces, discounts, and sa!les are not false or deceptive
j  ̂ j \ ' ^ I ' ^ i

Thus, Plaintiff is unable to rely on Defendant's advertismg m the future, and so Plamtiff cannot purchase

products that Plaintiff would hlce to purchase'

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

86 Plaintiff bnngs this action on behalf of all persons similarly situated, and seeks
,  ' I I ' 1 ( . . r ' ' j ' 1 '

certification of die followmg class

All persons who purchased any product from Defendant's Website*^ while in California

within the statute of liimtations'period ^ a purported discount from a "higher reference
! u .cr:, I / (. I ' / '' .
price.

87 The above-descnbed class of persons shall hereafter be rtfeired to as the "Class "
1  I I " i ! I ' [I ' I I I /

Excluded from the Class are any and all past or present officers, directors, or employees of Defendant,

any judge who presides over this action, and any partner or employee of Class Counsel Plaintiff

reserves the nght to expand, limii modify, or atriend this class definition, including the addition of one
or more subclasses, iri connection'with his motion for class certification, or at any dtlier time, based

'  ' ' , ' ; Iupon, inter aha, changing circumstances and/or new facts obtained durmg discovery
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-  88 Numerositv The Class is so numerous that loinder.of all members m one action is
'  , I ' ,ri /I / ^ .w , Tj i 'U' ' ' )i ' ' 1 . 1 '' ' ^ ' "' 1 1 1 I'.

impracticable The exact number and identities of the members of the Class is .unknown to Plaintiff at
I

this time and can only be ascertained through appropnate discovery, but Plamtiff is informed and

believes, and thereon, alleges that there are at least 100 members of the Class

89 XvDicalitv. Plaintiffs claims are tvmcal of those of other members of the Class, all of
C  " '1 — 1 I Alb 1 ^ TE.] . f, A

whom have suffered similar harm due to Defendant's course of conduct as descnbed in this Complamt
I  ! >' J . ''{ i' l . ^ .i ^ iO! I i M ' '

90 Adequacy of Representation. Plamtiff is an adequate representative of the Class and

will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class Plamtiff has retained attorneys who are
'  I ' " ! , " • < , 1 ^ ! I ' I

I

expenenced m the handling of complex litigation and class actions, and Plaintiff and Plaintiffs counsel
I  , ' r ' , ' ' " \ »' ' ^ i' f , ' ' >1 i ' M '

mtend to prosecute this action vigorously ''

91 Prednmiqance of Common Questions of Law or Fact. Common questions of law and
^  ̂ 1 j I 1 . I / ' I ,

fact exist as to all members of the Class that predominate over an^ questions affecting only mdividual

members of the Class These common legal and factual questions, which do not yary among members

of the Class, and which may be determined without reference to the mdividual circumstances of any

member of the Class, include, but are not limited to, the following
'  I ' • , • '

a) Whether, durmg the Class Penod, Defendant advertised false reference pnces of its
'j yi '„'

products offered on its Website , '

b) Whether, durmg the Class Penod, Defendant advertised pnce discounts frorn false

reference pnces on products offered on its Website

c) ̂  Whether Defendanf s deceptive pncing scheme usmg false reference pnces constitutes

false advertismg m violation of the California False Advertismg Law imder Busmess &

Professions Code § 17500
'.J 'U J - ^ ^ ' I I 1 I >

c) Whether Defendant's deceptive pncmg scheme usmg false reference pnces violate the

CLRA under Cml Code § 1770 ,
j  ' i _ ' 'j '' I , ) ' ' f r. I - . / ' . / , .

92 Supeiiontv. A class action is supenor to other available methods for the fair and

efficient adjudication of this controversy because mdividual litigation of the claims of all members of
■  - !l f ! . f > iJ . • , ' c I I T . iw • , . 1' - , I 1 U, '

the Cleiss is impracticable
t  I fji
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93 Ascertainabilitv. Defendant keeps computenzed records of its sales and customers

throu^, among other tilings, databases stdnng customer orders, customer order histonesi customer
c  t J >

profiles, customer loyalty programs, and general marketing programs Defendant lias one or more
%  I ! ' I I < J J1

databases through which a significant majonty of members of the Class may be identified and

ascertamed, and they inaintam contact information, mcliiding email addresses and home addresses (such
i  ̂ r I I ( '

as billmg, mailing, and shipping addresses), through which notice of tbs action is capable of bemg

dissemmated m accordance with due process reqmrements
N  I «. ^

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of California's False Advertising Law '

'  ' ' Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500

94 Plamtiff mcorporates by reference the foregomg paragraphs as if set forth hereinafter

95 Section 17500 of the California Busmess and Professions Code states m relevant part, "It

IS unlawfiil for any person- firm, corporation or associafibh, or any employee thereof with intent directly

or indirectly to dispose <>/real or personal property or to perform services, professional or otheirose,

or anything of any nature whatsoever or to induce the public to enter into any obligation relating

thereto) to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated before \he public in this state, or

to make or dissemmate or cause to be made or disseminated fi:6m this state before the public m any state,

m any newspaper or other pubhcation, or any adveriising device, or by public outcry or proclamation,

or in any other manner or means whatever, including over the Internet, any statement, concemmg

that real or personal properly or fiiose services, professional or otiierwise, or concerning any
' > - j - \ < t ^

circumstance or matter offact connected with theproposed perfoimance or disposition thereof, which

is untrue or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise ofreasonable cafe should be

known, to be untrue or misleading, or for any person, firm, or corporation to so make of disseminate

or cause to be so made or disseminated any such statement aspart of a plan or scheme with the intent

not to sell thatpersonal property or those services, professional or otherwise, so advertised at theprice

stated therein, or as so advertised.^* (Cal.Bus &Prof Code § 17500) (emphasis added)
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96 Section 17501 of the Business and Professions Code provides in relevant part that "no

pnce shall be adverUsed as a fo|nner pnce of any advertised thing, unless ,the alleged former price was

the prevailing market pnce within three months next immediately preeeding the publication of the

advertisement or unless the date when the alleged forrner pnce did prevail is clearly, exactly, and

conspicuously stated in the advertisement" (Gal Bus & Prof Code § 17501 )

97 By committing the acts alleged m this operative Complamt, Defendant has violated

Busmess and Professions Code §§ 17500 etseq

98 For example, here, Defendant does not ordinanly sell its products includmg, but not

limited to, the Product at the advertised regular pnces And, the Product was not sold at the higher

reference pnce m the pertinent statutory three-month penod pnor to Plaintiffs purchase of the Product

via the Website and Class members' pmchases of Defendant's products via the Website

99 As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's nusleadmg and false advertisements,

Plamtiffand members of Ae Class have suffered injury in fact and have lost money

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of Consumers Legal Remedies Act

Cal. Civil Code § 1750 etseq,

,100 ^Plmntiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth hereinafter

101 The CLRA prohibits certain "unf^ niethods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts

or practices" m,connection with the sale of goods or services to any consumer (Cal Civ Code §

1770(a))
I  ' . ' I ^ 1 '

102 The practices descnbed herem, specifically Defendant's advertismg and sale of its
'  ' I ' ' r f x , \ ^ ,

products, were intended to result,and did result,in the sale of such products to the consuming public and

violated and continues to violate (i) section 1770(a)(9) of the Civil Code by "[a]dvertising goods

with mtent not to sell them as advertised", and (ii) section 1770(a)(13) of the Civil Code by "[mjakmg

false or misleading statements of fact concerning reasons for, existence of, or, aniounts of, pnce
^  ̂ s, * ' ' ̂ > > "i

reductions "

-20-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Case 3:26-cv-00301-AGS-JLB     Document 1-2     Filed 01/16/26     PageID.32     Page 23
of 25



1

2^

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

103 Plaintiff IS an individual who acquu*ed, by purchase, the Product, which is a good, for

personal, family, or household purposes ■ . i i i ^
i  ' (i • '104 Defendant deceived Plamtiff by advertismg the pnce of the Product in a misleading

manner contrary to Califomia statutes mcludihg sections 17500 and 17501 of the Busmess and

Professions Code

105 Defendant made matenal misrepresentations to deceive Plamtiff and Class members

106 In domg so, Defendant intentionally misrepresented and concealed matenal facts from

Plaintiff and Class members Said misrepresentations and concealment were done with the intention of

deceiving Plamtiff and Class members, and depnvmg Plaintiff and Class members of their nghts and
,  I ^

money

107 Defendant knew that the Product's advertismg of its pnce on its Website was misleadmg

and deceptive and the advertismg of its other products on its Website was similarly misleadmg and

deceptive • • i '

108 As mentioned above, Plamtiff read aid relied upon the stnke-through reference pncmg

advertismg the Product that she purchased before completmg her online purchase of the Product via the

Website

109 Defendant's advertismg of the Product through reference pncmg was a matenal factor m

Plaintiffs decision to purch^e the Product Based on Defendant's advertismg of the Product, Plamtiff

reasonably believed that the reference pnce of the Product purchased by Plamtiff was genume Had

Plamtiff known the truth of the matter, i e, that the reference pnce of the Product was false or

misleading, Plamtiff would not have purchased the Product

110 Plamtiff and Class members have suffered injury in fact and have lost money as a result

of Defendant's deceptive, unfair, andunlawfiil conduct

111 Pumtive damages are also sought herem based upon Defendant's deceptive conduct,

which mdicates that Defendant is gmlty of oppression, fraud, or malice

112 Pnor to the commencement of this action, Plamtiff sent a letter notifymg Defendant of

the particular wrongdomg that violates the CLRA and demanded that Defendant appropriately correct
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Its advertising and/or provide another appropnate remedy of the violations to the putative Class of
'  I '' I ' ' s

Califomia consumers More than 30 days elapsed since Plaintiff sent such demand letter to Defendant,

but Defendant failed to respond by providing an appropnate remedy of the yiolations or offenng to do

so,witlim a reasonable time to the entire putative Class ^

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREjFORE, Plamtiff seeks judgmrat against Defendant as follows

a  For an order certifymg that the action be mamtained as a class action, that Plamtiff be

^ designated as the class representative, and that undersigned comisel be designated as

class counsel, ;
1  r ^ ' J i

b  For all available legal, equitable, and declaratory relief,

c  For statutory damages,
I  , , 1 C r

d  ̂ For pumtive damages,^

e  For attorneys' fees and costs as allowed by law, and

f. For any and all other relief at la\y or equity that may be appropnate

Dated August 21, 2025 PACIFIC TRIAL ATTORNEYS, APC

By
Scott J Ferrell

Attomeys for Plamtiff and the Putative Class

'  )
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